IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JERRY LAYNE ROGERS, )  
 )  
 Appellant, )  
 )  
 vs )  
 )  
 STATE OF FLORIDA, )  
 )  
 Appellee. )  
 \_\_\_\_\_ )

Case No. 66,356

FILED  
FEB 24 1983



CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT  
By: *Danya*

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT  
IN AND FOR ST. JOHNS COUNTY  
STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES B. GIBSON  
PUBLIC DEFENDER  
SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

CHRISTOPHER S. QUARLES  
CHIEF, CAPITAL APPEALS  
ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER  
112 Orange Ave., Suite A  
Daytona Beach, FL 32014  
(904) 252-3367

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

TABLE CONTENTS

	<u>PAGE NO.</u>

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On December 19, 1983, the Appellant, Jerry Layne Rogers, was indicted for the first degree murder of David Eugene Smith. (R1) An amended indictment was filed February 22, 1984. (R41) Rogers was arrested for this offense on January 5, 1984, with his first appearance the next day. (R4-5) Pursuant to Appellant's request, the trial court eventually allowed Rogers to proceed pro se with the assistance of two co-counsel unaffiliated with the Office of the Public Defender. (R12,35,39,42)

The state filed a notice of intent to use similar fact evidence on February 22, 1984. (R43) Appellant filed a motion in limine to exclude the similar fact evidence. (R765-767) On April 10, 1984, Appellant filed a motion to dismiss due to pre-arrest delay. (R592-595) On April 19, 1984, Appellant filed a motion to suppress certain physical evidence seized as a result of an unlawful search and seizure. (R636-640) This motion was supplemented and amended. (R1284-1285,4986-4988)

The state filed a written response to all of these motions. (R1767-1773) On July 19, 1984, the trial court rendered an order on the pending motions filed by the Appellant. (R2985-2995) The motion for discharge due to pre-arrest delay, the motion to suppress evidence based on an illegal search and seizure, and the motion in limine relating to similar fact evidence were all denied. (R2985-2995)

Appellant also filed a motion to suppress the in-court identifications of the victims scheduled to testify for the state

regarding similar fact offenses. (R3049-3058) This motion was based on the contention that the witnesses had an insufficient time period to adequately observe the perpetrators as well as the contention that the previous identifications of those witnesses were impermissibly tainted. (R3049-3058) A supplement to this motion was filed on August 8, 1984. (R3096) The trial court denied this motion and allowed the identification testimony. (R6729-6732,6744,6796-6799,6810-6833)

Appellant filed a motion for protective order relating to witnesses and possible tampering by the Office of the State Attorney. (R574) Appellant also filed a motion to require and authorize defense counsel or defendant to be present at any photographic lineup. (R3342-3343) The court granted said motion. (R3498) As a result of a violation of this order, Appellant filed a motion to suppress the in-court identification and pre-trial identification by Ketsey Day Supinger.

(R3863-3866) After a hearing and following argument, the trial court rendered an order which precluded the state from initially offering evidence of Mrs. Supinger's pre-trial identification, but denied Appellant's request to exclude her in-court identification of the Appellant. (R5646-5754,6162-6178,6227)

On May 10, 1984, Appellant filed a motion to compel the state to furnish the names, addresses and telephone numbers of all the grand jurors. (R758-760) On the morning of trial, the state did eventually provide the names of the grand jurors. (R5755-5757) Appellant then filed a motion to dismiss the indictment based upon the relationship between a member of the

grand jury and the victim of the crime. (R6140-6146) This motion was denied by the trial court.

On May 10, 1984, Appellant filed a motion for the appointment of an expert witness, (relating to identification) and to allow that testimony at trial. (R761-764) The state filed a motion in limine to preclude that testimony. (R3693) Appellant's motion was granted in part and denied in part. (R7699-7725)

A jury was empaneled and death-qualified during voir dire. (R5768-6143)

The Appellant was precluded from presenting evidence several times throughout the trial. (R7373,7438-7448,7542-7549, 8055-8056)

At one point the trial court interrupted the Appellant and refused to allow Rogers to state the grounds for his objection. (R7898-7905)

On cross-examination of a defense witness, the state was allowed, over objection, to attempt to impeach the witness with accusations of prior bad acts. (R7252-7254)

On two occasions, the trial court admitted evidence over Appellant's timely and specific hearsay objection. (R7211-7212,7956-7958)

At the conclusion of the State's case, Appellant moved for a judgment of acquittal. This motion was denied. Appellant also renewed his previous motions which were also denied. (R6946-6950) Following extensive evidence and testimony presented by the defense, the state presented evidence in

rebuttal. (R7857-8028) This was followed by more evidence from the defense. (R8032-8066) At the conclusion of all of the evidence, Appellant renewed all of his previous motions which were denied. (R8075-8077)

The Appellant elected to waive all possible lesser included offenses so that the jury was given a choice of guilty of first degree murder or not guilty. (R8080-8081) At the charge conference, the Appellant took exception to the standard jury instruction on accomplices. (R8081-8082) A special jury instruction requested by the Appellant was denied. (R8082)

At the conclusion of the trial court's instruction to the jury, Appellant pointed out that it was mandatory to supply written instructions in capital cases. The trial court retorted that such a procedure was discretionary and the court refused to do so in the instant case. (R8246-8247) The jury returned with a verdict of guilty as charged. (R8252)

A penalty phase was conducted in order to determine a jury recommendation on sentencing. (R8257-8343) The defense objected to much of the evidence involving previous convictions. These objections were overruled.

Appellant presented evidence in mitigation consisting of testimony from him and his wife. (R8300-8306) The state followed with rebuttal. (R8307-8312) At the conclusion of the sentencing hearing, the jury returned with a recommendation for imposition of death by a vote of 12 to 0. (R8340-8342) The trial court adjudicated the Appellant guilty and ordered a pre-sentence investigation. (R8342-8343)

Appellant filed a motion for a new trial which was the subject of a hearing. (R4546,8349-8378) Appellant renewed his previous motions and objections many of which are the subject of the instant appeal. The motion was denied. (R8373-8378)

The trial court imposed the sentence of death finding five (5) aggravating circumstances and rejecting all mitigating circumstances. (R4591-4598,8392-8393)

A timely notice of appeal was filed on January 3, 1985. (R4609) This brief follows.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Thomas McDermid, a seven (7) time loser and admitted perjurer who was given complete immunity for the murder of David Smith, was the undisputed star witness for the State of Florida in the instant case. (R6570-6578) McDermid also benefited by receiving a concurrent fifteen (15) year sentence for armed robbery in exchange for his testimony against Jerry Layne Rogers. (R6571-6575) At the time of his testimony, McDermid had not been sentenced for his participation in this offense. (R6602) At the time of trial, McDermid had completed two years and eight months of his total sentence of twenty five years on five different cases. (R6522,6601) Bearing this critical background information in mind, McDermid's testimony, viewed in a light most favorable to the state, established the following:

Thomas McDermid is married to Debbie Young, who is the cousin of Jerry Rogers' wife. During the early afternoon of January 4, 1982, McDermid and Rogers rented a car from the Hertz dealer in Orlando where they resided. Rogers signed for the car and the two then proceeded to their counter top shop where they picked up two .45 caliber Star handguns and one Barretta. The Appellant bought two .45 caliber Star semi-automatic handguns from an Orlando gun shop in 1981. (R6615-6625) One gun was purchased in October while the other was purchased in November.

They arrived in St. Augustine during the mid-afternoon hours. They drove around for approximately thirty (30) minutes during which time they "cased" the A & P grocery store as well as the Winn-Dixie. After eating dinner at Quincy's, McDermid and

Rogers went back to the A & P and prepared to rob that store. This plan changed when they realized that there was a nearby Mason meeting that evening. They returned to the Winn-Dixie and parked in the adjoining Holiday Inn parking lot at approximately 7:00 P.M. They noticed that a police car drove by at thirty (30) minute intervals during the next couple of hours.

After donning rubber gloves and nylon stocking masks, the pair entered the store with McDermid going to the only open cash register, while Rogers jumped up on the service counter. McDermid ordered the customer in the checkout line to lay prone on the floor and instructed the cashier, Ketsey Day Supinger, to open her register. Supinger had extreme difficulty opening her register and was, in fact, unsuccessful in doing so. After a few seconds, the pair fled the store empty-handed removing their masks after leaving the store. As they ran toward the Holiday Inn parking lot, McDermid, who was leading the way, testified that he heard an unknown voice say, "no, please don't." He then heard a gunshot followed by a short pause before two more shots. McDermid ran through the second story breezeway of the Holiday Inn, down the stairs and into the car where he crouched on the floor of the back seat. When Rogers arrived at the car, he allegedly told McDermid that he saw a man go out the rear door during the robbery. McDermid testified that Rogers told him, "He was playing hero and I shot the son of a bitch."

(R6205-6354,6521-6614)

The body of David Smith, assistant manager for the Winn-Dixie, was found face down in the parking lot. Two spent

slugs were found on the asphalt underneath Smith's chest, another nearby. Tattooing on the skin indicated that the gun was within a few inches of the skin when one shot was fired. The other two shots were from a greater distance. The medical examiner was unable to determine in what order the wounds were inflicted. The cause of death was due to perforation of the lungs from two of the wounds causing massive internal bleeding. (R6241-6242, 6382-6480, 6545-6554) Three .45 caliber shell casings were also found in the general vicinity of the body. (R6451-6454) A stocking mask was found on Holiday Inn property. (R6497-6498)

The bullets that killed David Smith were initially determined to be fired from a .45 caliber semi-automatic pistol manufactured by Star or Llama. Since that initial determination, the list of possible weapons from which the bullets could have been fired had widened to eleven (11) manufacturers. The projectiles had the same class characteristics, but the ballistics expert could not be certain that they had all been fired from the same weapon. (R6665-6671)

A .45 caliber Star pistol and shell casings were among items seized from Appellant's home. (R6639-6656) Of the one hundred and ninety two (192) cartridge cases seized from Appellant's home, sixty-nine (69) of them were fired from the same weapon that fired the casings found near Smith's body. One hundred and fourteen (114) of them were fired from the gun seized from Appellant's home, and nine (9) casings were fired from an unknown weapon. (R6678-6684) It was conclusively established that the gun found in Appellant's home did not fire

either the casings or the projectiles found by Smith's body.  
(R6677)

The state introduced evidence of collateral crimes in an attempt to prove Jerry Rogers' guilt in the instant case.  
(R6733-6841) An employee of the Publix grocery store in Winter Park, identified Jerry Rogers as one of the two masked robbers. Robert Daniel also identified the Appellant as one of two masked robbers that robbed his family grocery store in Orlando.

The defense presented substantial testimony and evidence which cast doubt on the validity of the various identifications of Rogers as one of the two culprits in the instant crime as well as the collateral offenses. Tim Connaly, Monica Burnett and Joel Bennett all failed to select Rogers' picture from a photographic display which contained his photograph. Joel Bennett even saw one of the robbers without a mask. (R6975) Two of the witnesses were able to select McDermid as one of the culprits. (R6969-6970) Kelsey Day Supinger was not shown a photographic lineup until shortly before trial and was still unsure. (R6975-6976) Several witnesses and investigators from the Daniels and Publix robberies testified. This evidence revealed discrepancies between Rogers' appearance and the descriptions of the actual robbers. (R7479-7512) Expert testimony revealed that identifications based upon witnesses' observations in situations like the robberies were very suspect indeed.  
(R7698-7723)

Todd LeClaire drove through the Holiday Inn and Winn-Dixie parking lots that night close to the time of the

robbery. He saw two men facing the corner of the Winn-Dixie who he thought might have been the robbers after he heard that a robbery had occurred. Neither one of these individuals was Jerry Rogers. (R7180-7197) Joel Bennett, who worked at the Holiday Inn, came within inches of the probable culprits that night. Bennett was able to select McDermid's picture from a photographic lineup shortly after the robbery. (R5382-5384) Bennett described the two individuals as being taller than himself. One assailant was slightly taller than Bennett, while the other was close to 6' tall. Bennett is 5'5½" tall. While Bennett admitted that Rogers and the shorter robber had similarities in their appearance, he did not identify Rogers as one of the two men. (R7304-7338)

Rhonda Milheim saw a suspicious car driving down the alley alongside the Winn-Dixie shortly before the robbery. The car had three people sitting in the front seat. Milheim testified that it was unusual to see cars take this route. (R7341-7346)

Troy Sapp was a guest at the Holiday Inn on the night of the robbery. At approximately 9:00 P.M., Sapp was returning from the restaurant to his room at the top of the stairwell by the breezeway. He heard what sounded like three gunshots before meeting a man about 5'10" running through the breezeway. The man was definitely taller than Rogers and clean cut with noticeable front teeth. (R7379-7417) Sapp saw the man run down to the street level, stop at the back of a car and apparently put something in the trunk. He then got into the driver's seat and

drove away. Sapp saw no one else run by. Karl Hagen accompanied Troy Sapp from the restaurant that evening. His observations corroborated those of Troy Sapp. (R7418-7437)

During his incarceration at various county jails, McDermid had confided in other inmates that Jerry Rogers was not his true accomplice. McDermid showed family photographs in the jail and identified a man in the pictures as his actual accomplice in the attempted robbery of the Winn-Dixie and murder of David Smith. The man pointed out in the photograph bore a striking resemblance to Thomas McDermid. (R7224-7289)

Rogers' defense included the contention that Billy McDermid was Thomas' true accomplice.

McDermid once asked Rogers to hire his brother Billy but the Appellant declined due to Billy's alcohol problem. (R7020) At 5'4½", Billy is shorter than his brother Thomas McDermid. (R7062) Thomas McDermid's teeth protruded from his mouth. (R7064,7086) Billy also has a receding hairline and a slight paunch much like Jerry Rogers. (R7087-7091,7096-7108) McDermid was extremely protective of his brother Billy and became angry when there was any attempt to implicate Billy. (R7038-7039) Items of evidence which were the fruit of the Publix robbery were found to have Thomas McDermid's fingerprints on them. The items were also checked for Rogers' prints, but none were found. (R7458-7477)

Through the testimony of Sergeant Osterberg of the Orange County Sheriff's Department, Appellant introduced an incident report that revealed that Rogers had reported the theft

of his pistol from a shop on November 3, 1981. While the report was signed by Sergeant Osterberg, he testified that he was not on duty that day, nor did the report comply with his usual procedure. (R7528-7539) The report, which was not on the correct agency form, was not on file with the Orange County Sheriff's Department. (R7991-7996)

On the night of David Smith's murder, Jerry Rogers had a barbecue at his home with his wife, children, mother-in-law and friends. After this social gathering dispersed, Patricia Rogers, Appellant's daughter, hurt her arm while roughhousing with the other children. Rogers drove his daughter to the hospital emergency room at approximately 10:30 P.M. and returned home at close to 3:00 A.M. (R7624-7698,7727-7856) Jerry Rogers testified in his own behalf and corroborated his alibi, denying all involvement with Thomas McDermid's crime spree. Several witnesses testified that Jerry Rogers' business was booming during the early 1980's with no motive to rob stores. Rogers was also a gun enthusiast who reloaded his own shot in order to save money. (R7542-7621)

## SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

### POINT I

Appellant contends that the failure of the trial court to supply written jury instructions in a capital case constitutes reversal error where such instructions are requested. Since the criminal rule of procedure requiring written instructions in capital cases is mandatory in language and is derived from a statute, the trial court has no choice in the matter. No prejudice need be demonstrated. The situation is analogous to the failure to instruct a jury on the minimum and maximum penalties where requested before that rule of criminal procedure was changed. Tascano v. State, 393 So.2d 540 (Fla. 1980).

### POINT II

The Appellant is entitled to a new trial where the trial court improperly excluded relevant evidence presented by the defense. A criminal defendant's right to present evidence is critical. (1) The court improperly excluded reputation testimony of a key state witness; (2) medical records which impeached a rebuttal witness presented by the state; (3) evidence of the demeanor of Thomas McDermid in a prior criminal proceeding; (4) the written BOLO containing the descriptions of suspects in the instant crime; and (5) expert testimony of a social psychologist specializing in the fallibility of eyewitness identifications.

### POINT III

The trial court should have granted Appellant's motion to dismiss the indictment where it was established that the father-in-law of the victim of the crime charged served on the

grand jury. This destroyed the neutrality of the grand jury and resulted in presumptive prejudice.

POINT IV

The failure of the state to arrest or to charge the Appellant with the instant offense resulted in prejudice to his case. Rogers was first indicted on December 19, 1983, for the offense which occurred on January 4, 1982. The trial court applied an erroneous standard in denying this motion where the court required a showing of bad faith on the part of the state. Appellant suffered actual prejudice where he demonstrated that witnesses' memories had faded and alibi witnesses had disappeared.

POINT V

The introduction of evidence regarding robberies of a Publix and Daniels grocery stores in other cities was not similar enough to qualify as Williams Rule evidence. The similarities were minimal and present in the vast majority of robberies. The dissimilarities were pronounced, especially where a murder occurred during the attempted robbery in the instant case. Even if the similarities were sufficient, the collateral crimes became a feature of the trial and obscured the true issue of guilt for the offense charged.

POINT VI

Appellant was denied due process of law and the right to counsel where the state, in direct contravention of the trial court's order showed a photo lineup to a state witness immediately before her deposition. The lineup contained a photograph of Jerry Rogers who also was at the witness' deposition. The view

of the photograph beforehand tainted the witness' identification of the Appellant as the robber. This witness was the only unbiased witness to identify Rogers as one of the culprits.

POINT VII

Two instances of hearsay were allowed into evidence over objection. A correctional officer was permitted to testify that McDermid told the officer that he heard that Rogers had arranged a "hit" on him. This constituted double hearsay. The trial court also allowed Rogers' brother-in-law to testify that his mother had told him that she was not speaking to Jerry and his wife during the months surrounding the murder. This was prejudicial since Maxine Arzberger was a crucial alibi witness for the defense.

POINT VIII

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