IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JERRY LAYNE ROGERS,

Appellant,

vs.

CASE NO. 66,356

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR ST. JOHNS COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

JIM SMITH ATTORNEY GENERAL

RICHARD B. MARTELL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL 125 N. Ridgewood Avenue Fourth Floor Daytona Beach, Florida 32014 (904) 252-2005

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

TOPICAL

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

In any event, it is clear that the best evidence of a witness's reputation is obtained from his neighbors or people in the community in which he resides.

See, Hinson v. State, 59 Fla. 20, 52 So. 194 (1910); Stanley v. State, 93 Fla.

372, 112 So. 73 (1927). Although it has been recognized that exceptions can be made, and persons who know the witness from the workplace can similarly testify, 'workplace" witnesses are only allowed after a showing has been made not only that other community witnesses are unavailable, but that such witnesses in the workplace have intimate knowledge of the subject or his reputation.

See, Hamilton v. State, 129 Fla. 219, 176 So. 89 (1937), "community" held to include "the place in the same city where the defendant worked day after day and those who came in daily contact with her for several years"; Florida East

Coast Railway Co. v. Hunt, 322 So.2d 68 (Fla. 3d DCA 1975). Thus, courts have reversed convictions in cases where witnesses without sufficient "credentials" have been allowed to testify as to another's reputation for truth or veracity.

Compare, Stripling v. State, 349 So.2d 187 (Fla. 3d DCA 1977); Hawthorne v.

State, 377 So.2d 780 (Fla. 1st DCA 1979).

In this case, there was no showing that Johnston and McDermid were residents of the same community or that others more familiar with McDermid's reputation were unavailable. At best, Johnston seems to have had a passing acquaintance with McDermid, not wishing to "associate with him anymore than [he] had to." (R 7547). His initial answer to the predicate question seemed to deny any personal knowledge of McDermid's reputation (R 7547). Appellee respectfully contends that the state's objections were well taken, in that appellant never demonstrated that Johnston had a substantial knowledge of McDermid's reputation or that other witnesses with greater knowledge were not available. Additionally, even if any error could be said to have been committed in this context, it must be regarded as harmless. Cf., Parker v. State, 458 So.2d 750 (Fla. 1984). The jury was well aware of appellant's views as to the credibility of Thomas McDermid. McDermid had been called by a witness by both the state and defense, and his credibility and biases were fully aired before the jury (R 6569-6598; 7010-7063). Additionally, the defense called several of McDermid's former cellmates to testify as to inconsistent statements he had allegedly given regarding appellant's lack of culpability (R 7224-7242; 7242-7273; 7273-7290). It is inconceivable that the "loss" of this testimony had any effect on the verdict sub judice, and the instant conviction should be affirmed.

B. THE ALLEGED EXCLUSION FROM EVIDENCE OF MEDICAL RECORDS OF A STATE WITNESS WAS NOT ERROR

As appellant notes in his brief, one of the primary thrusts of the defense

offered at trial was that Thomas McDermid was a liar, having boasted to his cellmates that appellant, although arrested as his accomplice, had not been involved (R 7224-7242; 7242-7273; 7273-7290). During its case in rebuttal, the state called James Lancia as a witness (R 8001-8027). Lancia, a former cellmate of appellant, testified that while the two had been incarcerated in the Seminole County Jail, appellant, as part of his defense on charges pending there, had persuaded him to perjure himself; Lancia had testified untruthfully, at appellant's request, that McDermid had made statements to the effect that appellant had not been involved in the charges in question (R 8002). On cross-examination, the witness denied having a history of paranoid schizophrenia or being on medication for such condition, although, on rebuttal, he admitted suffering from depression while being incarcerated in Seminole County (R 8014, 8021). Lancia also acknowledged having been on medication for depression at the time that perjured testimony was made (R 8020-1).

On surrebuttal, appellant called Carol Guemple, medical supervisor at the Seminole County Sheriff's Department and Correctional Division (R 8049-8061); appellant had earlier attempted to call her, apparently as some form of pre-emptive impeachment, but, following objection, she had been withdrawn as a witness (R 7110-7117). Prior to her testimony, the state had objected to the defense seeking to introduce "as a whole" an evidence package of Lancia's medical records, noting that, apparently, much of the medical material was not relevant to Lancia's mental condition at any relevant time (R 8038-9); the state also noted the witness's lack of medical expertise and argued against her being allowed to explain any medical diagnosis (R 8038). Judge Weinberg noted that the matter did not simply seem to be one of impeachment, in that Lancia had admitted being treated for depression, and the judge further noted the limited scope of surrebuttal (R 8041-2). He then ruled that the nurse would be able to testify as to her observations of appellant, as well as any record

which she had made herself (R 8043-4). The judge indicated that he was not inclined to allow the entire "package" of records into evidence, and appellant stated that he and the prosecutor could "settle" as to how much would be used (R 8044). The following exchange then took place:

THE COURT: Let's see. Apparently, the records are a real problem. The records are not admissible, anyway, as such. It's not a business record.

They don't count as that, in this particular case. So, what we'll do is put the witness on the stand and the state will object and I'll rule on the objection. That would be the best way.

MR. ROCERS: I'm not trying to get the records admissible. I want to use them, mark them for identification and use the nurse to testify from the records. (emphasis supplied) (R 8045).

At this point in time, proceedings broke, so as to allow appellant to talk with the prospective witness, and when the parties returned, the state objected to the introduction of a letter written by Lancia; such objection was overruled (R 8046-8). After further discussion, Miss Guemple was called to the stand, and she testified as to her observations and treatment of Lancia (R 8080). She specifically testified concerning the contents of two notes or letters written by Lancia, which were admitted into evidence (R 8052-56; Defense Exhibit # 51 R 4386-8). She also confirmed Lancia's condition and testified as to the medication prescribed (R 8050-8055). At the close of direct examination, the following occurred:

MR. ROGERS: Your Honor, I'd move to admit this into evidence at this time.

THE COURT: Let's see.

MR. ROGERS: This is the one we separated.

THE COURT: Any objection?

MR. WHITEMAN: Yes, Your Honor. She's testified

from these documents, and again, my objection is, we don't write down a witness's testimony.

THE COURT: Objection sustained except as to the letter, I think.

MR. ROGERS: Okay.

MR. WHITEMAN: The letter and the note.

MR. ROGERS: The note was also written by Mr. Lancia.

THE COURT: The note and the letter will be received. (R 8056).

Appellant contends on appeal that vital evidence has been excluded and that reversal must be ordered, given the fact that the harmful nature of the exclusion of this evidence is obvious. (Brief of Appellant at 28). Appellee must initially ask, 'What evidence? What exclusion?' The record on appeal does not contain any of the allegedly excluded medical record. Inasmuch as reversal cannot be predicated upon speculation, Sullivan v. State, 303 So.2d 632 (Fla. 1974), it is obvious that appellant has failed to sustain his burden in this case.

It is also obvious that the jury was adequately apprised of Lancia's mental condition. As noted, the witness himself acknowledged his depression and treatment for such. Miss Guemple testified as to her observations of Lancia, and those notes and letters written by him were admitted. Given the fact that, at one point, appellant stated that he apparently wished to use the record simply as a way of refreshing the witness's recollection, and given the rather ambiguous tender of evidence and lack of continued objection, appellant has hardly demonstrated that he was denied the use of vitally needed testimony; as with all of these other evidentiary sub-points, this issue was not raised in appellant's motion for new trial (R 4546-4550). Additionally, given the fact that the testimony would not seem to have been contrary to Lancia's trial testimony, the extent to which appellant was entitled to bring in extrinsic

evidence of impeachment, through another witness, would seem highly debatable.

See, Patterson v. State, 25 So.2d 713 (Fla. 1946); Gelabert v. State, 407 So.2d 1007 (Fla. 5th DCA 1981); Erp v. Carroll, 438 So.2d 31 (Fla. 5th DCA 1983).

In conclusion, the situation would seem analogous to that before this court in Sims v. State, 444 So.2d 922 (Fla. 1983), wherein this court upheld the exclusion of documents corroborative of a defense witness's testimony, finding such to be superfluous to the witness's testimony and not relevant to any material issue of fact. Appellant has failed to demonstrate reversible error, and the instant conviction should be affirmed.

C. THE EXCLUSION FROM EVIDENCE OF THE TESTIMONY OF GARY BOYNTON, APPELLANT'S FORMER ATTORNEY, WAS NOT ERROR

Appellant's former co-defendant, Thomas McDermid, was called as a witness by both the state and defense. During his direct examination by appellant, the witness testified extensively as to a deposition which he gave in Orange County on January 14, 1983, and appellant read from such deposition in questioning McDermid as to his motivation for or explanation of certain statements made at the time (R 7022-7030). McDermid acknowledged that at a subsequent deposition on or about February 11, 1983, he had stated that if appellant brought up anyone's name that he [McDermid] did not like, he would implicate other members of appellant's family (R 7038-9). On cross-examination, McDermid described how his formally close relationship with appellant had soured (R 7071), stating that, following his arrest, he had become angry at what he perceived to be appellant's attempts to implicate members of the McDermid family; accordingly, he had threatened to implicate other members of the Rogers family (R 7072-4). McDermid stated that such was the reason for his conduct at the 1983 deposition (R 7074).

The defense sought to call Gary Boynton as a witness during its case-in-chief. Boynton had represented appellant in some of his Orlando cases (R 7449).

Boynton, as evidenced by the proffer, was prepared to testify that McDermid had threatened to implicate members of appellant's family at one of the depositions held in Orlando (R 7449); the witness could also testify as to various allegedly unfounded accusations McDermid had made against appellant, apparently in retaliation for Rogers' attempt to implicate McDermid's brother (R 7450-1). The state objected to Boynton's testimony, on the grounds that such was entirely cumulative and not in the nature of impeachment (R 7439-7440); appellant's theory of admissibility was that Boynton's testimony would demonstrate McDermid's bias (R 7440). Appellant acknowledged that Boynton had had no contact with McDermid other than at the deposition and was not present when any of the "deals" were arranged (R 7440, 7443). Boynton himself volunteered that he would be able to testify as to McDermid's demeanor during the deposition (R 7444). Judge Weinberg found the evidence inadmissible, largely on the grounds that it was cumulative and repetitive (R 7448, 7454, 7455).

Appellant contends on appeal that this ruling constitutes reversible error, in that Boynton would have offered testimony of great relevance, noting that such witness was a member of the Florida Bar. Appellant does, however, note that the testimony would have been "somewhat" cumulative. Appellee joins appellant in this latter assessment, and would go further; Boynton's testimony would have been 100% cumulative. Given a trial court's well-recognized discretion in the admission of evidence, see, Welty v. State, 402 So.2d 1159 (Fla. 1981), appellee contends that no abuse of discretion has been demonstrated. McDermid, for what it was worth, had already testified as to his conduct at the earlier deposition and had acknowledged "threatening" appellant. The jury was already well aware of the past and present hostility between appellant and McDermid, and the latter had expressly acknowledged animosity toward appellant for any attempt by Rogers to implicate William McDermid (R 7074). Because the jury had already heard this testimony through other witnesses, appellee cannot

see the harm in excluding simply cumulative testimony, <u>see</u>, <u>Palmes v. State</u>, 397 So.2d 648 (Fla. 1981), and Boynton's subjective assessment that McDermid seemed 'hasty' during the depositions hardly seem of great relevance. <u>See also</u>, <u>Steinhorst v. State</u>, 412 So.2d 332 (Fla. 1982). The instant conviction should be affirmed.

D. THE TRIAL COURT'S EXCLUSION FROM EVIDENCE OF A TYPED BOLO WAS NOT ERROR

As appellant notes in his brief, the defense called Sergeant Nicklo, a state witness who had previously testified, as one of its witnesses during its case-in-chief (R 6956-6982). Nicklo testified that, on the night of the murder, a description had been prepared of the two persons suspected of being involved in the incident; such description was apparently broadcast as part of a BOLO (R 6957). When asked to divulge the BOLO description, Nicklo responded,

One subject was a white male five foot seven about twenty-seven to thirty years old, dark brown hair, short mustache, buck teeth, approximately 180 pounds. Clothing, light-colored quilted down type jacket and jeans

light-colored, quilted down type jacket and jeans.

The second subject was about five eight, twenty-seven to thirty years old, brown hair, 180 pounds, muscular build, clothes, blue jean jacket, brown flammel shirt, jeans and a white smooth belt. (R 6957).

Nicklo was then shown defendant's composite Exhibit AA, which he identified as two documents, one a 'refined' copy of the description and the other a copy of his report (R 6959-60). He subsequently read from the contents of the revised BOLO,

One white male mid twenties, approximately one eighty pounds, five foot seven, five foot eight, brown hair, short, medium cut, outstanding features, noticeable buck teeth, clothes, light bluish quilted ski-type down jacket, boots, work type with laces, and with a semi-automatic pistol, caliber unknown, blue steel.

White male age mid twenties, stocky build, solid muscular, five eight, five nine, weight unknown, clothes, blue jean jacket with outside pockets, brown flannel shirt, belt, white and smooth and with a .45 caliber automatic, make Star or Llama brand, blue steel. (R 6972).

No attempt was made to introduce Defense Composite Exhibit AA during the testimony of witness Nicklo, and it was only at a "housekeeping" session two days later that appellant sought to have the exhibit introduced (R 7373). At such time, the state objected, noting that the matter had been covered by live testimony (R 7373). Judge Weinberg sustained the objection (R 7373).

Appellant contends that the exclusion of this evidence constitutes reversible error, in that the crux of the defense involved identification.

Initially, it must be noted, that as in Point II (A) and (B) supra, the record does not contain the excluded evidence. Inasmuch as appellant has failed to sufficiently proffer this evidence, so as to have it included in the record on appeal, he has obviously failed to preserve this point, demonstrate the evidence's admissibility, or show that the trial court abused its discretion. See, Hitchcock v. State, supra; Jacobs, supra; Sullivan, supra.

This point on appeal basically presents the question, as best the state can determine, if a witness testifies as to the contents of a document, must the document itself also be introduced? It must be noted that the state never sought to suggest that Nicklo's testimony as to the BOLO was inaccurate. As such, it would seem that the state waived any objection it might have had as to the best evidence rule, section 90.953 Florida Statutes (1981), and that to have allowed both the document and oral testimony would simply have resulted in the bolstering of Nicklo on this subject. Cf., Williams v. State, 386 So.2d 538 (Fla. 1980). Parenthetically, inasmuch as the jury had already been apprised of the contents of the BOLO through Nicklo's testimony, it would seem that any error in excluding this piece of documentary evidence would be harmless. See, Palmes v. State, supra, exclusion of evidence harmless where substantially the same matters presented to the jury through testimony of same or other witnesses; Steinhorst, supra. As in Point II (B), this point would also seem to resemble the situation in Sims v. State, supra, wherein this court recognized as meritless

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